NOEL RESEARCH REPORT PILOT IMPLEMENTATION OF THE ATSA: TWO BY TEN INTERVENTION ON STUDENT ATTENDANCE

WRITTEN BY DR. CHRISTINA VAN BARNEVELD AND STAN BAKER

SEPTEMBER 2023

INTRODUCTION - Chronic absenteeism is a persistent concern for school boards in North Western Ontario (NWO). Before the COVID19 pandemic, during, and since the pandemic ended, schools in NWO have been working and innovating to improve student attendance and opportunities to learn.

One of the strategies aimed at improving student attendance is the ATSA TWO by TEN intervention. This strategy is based on existing research literature on the impact of a trusted caring adult in school on individual students. Strong relationships at school is one of the protective factors of student attendance and success.

The goal of this research was to report on the outcomes of the pilot project implementation of the ATSA TWO by TEN intervention at NOEL school boards with focus on the general question "How can a trusted caring adult be a protective factor to change the curve of student absenteeism by building connections with students and with adults"?

THE ATSA TWO BY TEN INTERVENTION

The ATSA: TWO by TEN intervention involves teachers taking TWO minutes a day, for TEN days, to build connections with students by talking about anything of interest to the student. Teachers use restorative practice skills and strategies to build connections with students at risk of becoming chronically absent.

Restorative practice training for teachers who participated in the TWO BY TEN intervention included two short podcasts each month (ten modules in all), online reflections, and five Zoom Live Calls with Stan Baker, Shelley Steele, and Steve Young.

WHAT'S BEEN DONE SO FAR

In April 2019, the four phases of the research project were initiated with the interventions to begin in September, 2019. A collaborative research team was assembled and the team made research design decisions and implementation plans as a group.

There were several barriers to implementing the project. Work to rule job actions in December 2019 limited the participation in the research. In March 2020, Covid19 pandemic resulted in closing of schools and project postponement.

Communications with the NOEL Directors and the collaborative research team continued throughout the pandemic. The project was postponed several times until January 2023, when five schools in five NOEL boards began the research project. Those five schools are the focus of this report.

RESEARCH QUESTIONS

There were four research questions for this pilot project:

- 1. Was the ATSA: TWO by TEN intervention implemented as expected?
- 2. According to the participating educators, what were the impacts of the ATSA: TWO by TEN intervention on participating students?
- 3. According to the participating educators, what were the impacts of the ATSA: TWO by TEN intervention on themselves and other adults?
- 4. Was there a difference in the monthly student attendance rates of students who participated in the ATSA: TWO by TEN intervention compared to students who did not participate in the ATSA: TWO by TEN intervention?

METHOD

A mixed-method approach was used to answer research questions. Quantitative and qualitative data were collected to gain multiple perspectives on the pilot implementation of the ATSA: TWO by TEN intervention and its impact on student attendance.

PARTICIPANTS

Educators

25 educators from 5 NOEL school boards volunteered to participate in the pilot implementation of the ATSA: TWO by TEN intervention. Given the small size of some of the school boards in NOEL, no identifying information was collected from the educators in order to respect their anonymity and confidentiality.

Students

40 students participated in the ATSA: TWO by TEN intervention pilot project. Of these 40 students, 30 students (75%) had a 1-to-1 setup with the educators in the ATSA: TWO by TEN intervention. The other 10 students (25%) had more than one educator working with them on the ATSA: TWO by TEN intervention. Given the small size of some of the school boards in NOEL, no identifying information for students is shared in this report in order to respect their anonymity and confidentiality.

DATA COLLECTION

ONLINE SURVEY

A 15-item online survey was designed and developed to collect data from educators on: project implementation, perceived impact of the ATSA: TWO by TEN intervention on students, themselves, and other adults. Most of the questions on the survey were closed-ended (point and click) with opportunity for educators to add comments throughout the survey. See Appendix A for the survey.

The link to the online survey was distributed by email to participating educators. Reminder emails were sent and the surveys were closed after 4 weeks.

INTERVIEWS

Interview questions were developed to get contextual, detailed information, and stories from educators regarding the implementation and impact of the ATSA: TWO by TEN intervention. See Appendix B for interview questions.

Interviews were conducted with educators after the project implementation was complete.

DATA EXTRACTION FROM DATABASE

Student attendance data were extracted from their student data management system (e.g., Powerschool) by each participating board. Monthly student attendance rate was calculated as the number of days a given student was in attendance over the total number of days in which they were enrolled for that month. An attendance rate of 60 indicates that the student attended 60% of the days in which they were enrolled for that month.

RESULTS

Results are organized by research question.

RESEARCH QUESTION #1: WAS THE ATSA: TWO BY TEN INTERVENTION IMPLEMENTED AS EXPECTED?

There were four questions on the online survey addressing the implementation of the ATSA: TWO by TEN intervention. Questions focused on implementation of modules, reflections, live calls, and respondents could provide open comments. Results are described in Tables 1-4.

Table 1.

			Board				
	A (n=5)	B (n=8)	C (n=4)	D (n=3)	E (n=5)	Total (n)	Percent
None	0	0	0	1	0	1	4
Module 1	5	8	4	1	5	23	92
Module 2	5	8	4	1	5	23	92
Module 3	5	8	4	1	5	23	92
Module 4	5	8	4	1	5	23	92
Module 5	5	8	4	1	5	23	92
Module 6	5	8	4	1	5	23	92
Module 7	4	7	4	1	3	19	76
Module 8	4	7	4	1	4	20	80
Module 9	5	7	4	0	4	20	80
Module 10	5	7	4	1	4	21	84

Participation varied by Module, ranging from 76%-92% participation. Modules 1-6 had the most participation at 92% and Module 7 had the least participation at 76%. Completion of the Modules varied by board, with the least completion of modules in Board D.

Table 2.

			Board				
	A (n=5)	B (n=8)	C (n=4)	D (n=3)	E (n=5)	Total (n)	Percent
None	0	0	4	1	0	5	20
Reflection 1	5	8	0	2	5	20	80
Reflection 2	5	8	0	1	5	19	76
Reflection 3	5	8	0	0	4	17	68
Reflection 4	5	8	0	0	4	17	68
Reflection 5	5	8	0	0	4	17	68
Reflection 6	5	7	0	0	3	15	60
Reflection 7	4	7	0	0	2	13	52
Reflection 8	4	6	0	0	3	13	52
Reflection 9	5	5	0	0	3	13	52
Reflection 10	4	5	0	0	3	12	48

There was a decreasing trend in participation in reflections, with the most participation for Reflection 1 (80%) and least for Reflection 10 (48%). Participation in reflections varied by board. Board C did not participate in Reflections.

Table 3.

Which live call	ls did you pa	articipate ii	n?		1		
			Board				
	A (n=5)	B (n=8)	C (n=4)	D (n=3)	E (n=5)	Total (n)	Percent
None	0	0	1	0	0	1	4
Live Call 1	5	8	3	2	4	22	88
Live Call 2	5	7	3	3	5	23	92
Live Call 3	4	8	3	3	4	22	88
Live Call 4	4	8	3	3	4	22	88

Live Call 5	5	8	3	2	2	20	80	
-------------	---	---	---	---	---	----	----	--

Participation in the live calls ranged from 80% (live call #5) to 92% (live call #2). There were some minor variations in live call participation by board, but, overall, participation was high for live calls.

On the survey, educators had an opportunity to provide comments on the implementation of the project. Comments on the implementation of the pilot project were organized into two categories, strengths of the implementation and challenges. Categories and subcategories are listed below with sample quotes.

Table 4.

Comments from educators regarding implementation of the ATSA: TWO by TEN intervention

Category	Subcategory	Sample quote
Implementation Strengths	Live Calls	 "I preferred doing the live calls as a group. Modules were informative and easy to follow." "The live calls seemed to be a bit easier to manage with regard to scheduling. Release time was given to teachers to complete the modules and for live calls. "
	Conversation s	"Conversations were good and strengths based"
	Interesting Content	• "This was an excellent project that helps us to understand what some of the causes of absenteeism are and possible strategies that works for others that we could implement to support our students in our schools."
Implementation Challenges	Format	 "I wish it could be face to face but I understand the struggles that would bring." "The format for meeting and learning online was challenging. Originally our understanding of the model was that the school team would be released and be able to meet face-to-face. This would have allowed deeper and more meaningful conversations/learning. The modules themselves contained some new and useful information however the timelines were tight in terms of watching the videos and accessing the resources and then completing the reflection questions in enough time to make the virtual meeting. It also did not allow enough time to put into practice the new information as reflections and then conversation about the topics happened right away. Our school's journey around supporting attendance also started long time ago and some of the information shared was not new learning and I think we were looking for some more practical applications to the learning that went beyond some of our
	Time	 "I found it a little hard to keep up, especially this part of the year." "As I was not able to complete the modules and reflections in a timely way, I really appreciated the recap of the modules at the beginning of each live call. Aside from the live calls, I found it difficult to carve out additional time on my computer for the modules and reflections either during the school days or in the evenings/on weekends. I thoroughly enjoyed the calls the learning and discussions and found it easy and effective to implement strategies discussed and learned with my focus individuals (and others!). Thanks to the NOEL team for their continued work and support. This project, and student attendance, is so important!"
	Scheduling workload	• "It was extremely difficult to coordinate staff working around all of our schedules. As well, the expectation that teachers complete the reflection questions and respond to the other responses was a bit task demanding. We therefore did not participate in that portion of the project."
	Target audience	• "I think it would be helpful to use with new or first year teachers rather than with teachers that have been in schools for a while. I felt that a lot of the tasks are things we do automatically within the school to help students increase their attendance, where a new teacher may not know where to start."

are not, doing their part to be an asset to the students' attendance. I would say a big downfall is that we have had so many different staff come in and out of our building"
--

Results of interviews also shed light on the challenges of implementing the project. For example, educators felt that schools are busy places all year, the ATSA: TWO by TEN was brought in during the second half of the year after the School Improvement Planning and Annual Learning Plans were already in place. The attendance project work felt like an add on. One educator elaborated,

maybe had we been a different place in our learning journey, it might have been more relevant. But it wasn't as relevant to some of the other things. So I just felt like some of the authenticity of some of those conversations could have gone deeper had we had more of an ability to ... direct that learning and have a say in that. And then also the face-to-face. It's super hard to have a conversation with a group of people that you know and work with every day in an artificial platform with other adults steering the conversation. And so I feel like that like in a perfect world, had it been done different like you and I and like we would've been co-learners and co-supporting the staff. (quote from educator interview)

APPENDIX B

INTERVIEW QUESTIONS FOR STAFF IN NOEL ATTENDANCE RESEARCH PROJECT, SPRING 2023

- 1. Opening -
 - thank you very much for your willingness to participate in this Attendance Research Project and for completing the survey which I have here. I want to get deeper into your responses for context, stories, that sort of thing. I really appreciate the time you took to get involved in this and thank you for your time on this call. I will be recording this interview for the Research Project work with Dr. Christina van Barneveld from Lakehead University. Recording it also helps me to just focus on your answers rather than trying to write everything down.
 - 2. I also want you to know about my involvement with the NOEL Attendance Research Project. I put it together and so the filter that I'm using is that while it's mine, it's ours. I want to know how it went to change the pattern of attendance for students and I want to find out the impact of this project. I am interested in making this a safe space to speak the truth. Is it OK with you to continue or do you have any questions before I begin?
- 2. Implementation of the Project How did it go?
 - 1. Tell me about what was going at school on during this project. What was the context that enable or inhibited the work you were doing on student attendance.
- 3. Impact of the Project
 - 1. What impact did this Project have on your students? On your adults? On you?
- 4. Stories
 - 1. What story or anecdote can you share about your work with students and adults on this Research Project?
- 5. Anything else
 - 1. What else do I need to know that I haven't asked you about?
- 6. Closing thank you again very much for your time, for your comments and for your participation in this Research Project

(I would like to circulate the questions to the participating staff in advance of the recorded interview.)

1.

APPENDIX C

EDUCATOR QUOTES REGARDING THE IMPACT OF ATSA: TWO BY TEN ON STUDENTS

"My student misses a, like he misses less this year than he did last year. Last year when we were at the other school, he was bullied and that's why we ended up moving here last year.

But then we moved back. Because the bullies were not there any longer and he was having a good year, but then they actually got a house in this community, so they moved back again same time of year. So this year his attendance has been a lot better.

"I, feel like I was, able to, talk to the, couple of students that, that I chose. I don't know that it made a difference with them though, was it was success when they spoke to me. When they asked me things like, honestly, like that, was success for, these two students. And like I said, I just feel like, yeah, it was I made a. So much progress from there.

"The one student in (grade7) that, and they all know who I'm talking about or well known because that person in his or her elementary school had no connection, behavior, problem of lot of attendance, moved around from school to school and, he said that he has, he had no connection. To anyone at this school and just walked out and you see that person walking around the hall today and, they're, the amount of growth that person has, shown is, tremendous. Kudos to everybody.

"I think it made everyone a bit more aware of how they were conducting themselves. So I think the fact that they were able to build these relationships, speak to these students, have intention behind that, it forced them to make these connections without it seeming too taxing. You know what I mean? And that's like the two by 10 model, right? Yep, you're making it short, you're making it concise. You're making it meaningful, and it's being a, genuine conversation in exchange. So I think with everything, especially coming back from the pandemic, that was really important cuz some kids didn't have that social interaction and now suddenly, oh look, someone cares about me.

"there was a couple of kids that I know (another staff member) had mentioned that she was gonna try to focus her attention on and I was sure that those kids had no idea who I was. And then one day I was walking by and they said, how. This call and I went, hi guys, how are you? And I was like, so then we just chatted really quick as I was walking by. And I was like, I didn't know They know my name. Wow. And now every time I see the younger one, She's actually in the grade. Across the hall from me. And she's like, guess what? And I'm like, what? And she's like, I sat in your chair and I was like, ah, so now it's like more of like that kind of playful. Like she actually can talk to me when I was like, I was sure this kid had no idea who I am. It's like, I don't know where she knew my name from, but she learned it and now she's like friendly with, I was funny. I didn't know, she knew me. That's a great story. It's a great story. I'm trying to make sure that I like, you know, say their names back and it's been, it's been really fun to, to have those kinds of moments."

"my in-class student, let me tell you when I started paying that more directed attention call saying his name, making sure that I connected him at least once a day on a personal level making sure that I was listening to him more. Oh my goodness. And I wrote this on the survey. It was like a fountain just went and he would tell me things I. As time progressed, tell me, he would come and seek me out. Tell me about his day. Tell me about what he did the night before. Tell me what he did with his family. He started sharing more about what his home life was like. And so I was able to figure out why he was coming in late so often, right? What is going on at home? What is what, is hindering him from getting here on time? And it, just all everything lined up. Everything made sense. And then, Because of that, we were able to talk about solutions. What can we do to get you back to school on time? What can we do to help you be able to get up on time, get your brother up on time?Because that's the skill that he had to develop as well. And still working on how to motivate your little brother to listen to you because you know he's the little brother and. The older brothers never listened to by the little brother. And those kinds of things. What can we do the night before to help you prepare because you know of the family dynamics.So it really helped me a lot and it helped the student be aware that, yeah, he's late. Yeah, he doesn't like it. Why can't he do more? Because it really falls on him, even though he's only in grade five, it really, the responsibility does fall on him. And so that was really good

"the other student, I found also he's a lot more reserved. However, again, that intentional coming, seeing him in the hallway because I supervise his class during snack time, I'm able to have that extra connection. Again, he would come and tell me it was my big brother's birthday. He turned 20, blah, blah, blah, blah. This is what we did. This is what we did, and this is how we did out of nowhere.

I saw you when I was biking. That kind of thing. And that helped me understand, okay, so without pestering his mom so how's it going? Did you guys go away? What's happening? Oh, I noticed you weren't here this morning. Did anything happen? And he would be able to tell me without. Feeling like I was being nosy because I, he knows that I care. And and it helped because I realized he was, he likes being in school. He does not wanna not be in school. And so I have noticed that when his mom is gonna be away, when they're gonna go away, And the little sister goes, he can stay as long as there's a brother looking after him or some other relative. So I've noticed that more, but I, can't tell you if it's correlation because of my relationship with him. I just noticed that he's been not, he's been coming when his sister hasn't been here sometimes."

"So what's going on in the class because of that one student. I make sure that when he comes in, how are you? I give a big smile when he comes into the door so he doesn't feel uncomfortable. I give a big, huge smile. I come make sure that I see him later. Hey how's it going? What happened today? And then I've started to also say, Hey, by the way, who's not gonna be here Thursday? Who's not gonna be here Friday? Who's not? Now, the children are doing that on their own. They're telling us when they're not gonna be here, why they're not gonna be here. They're telling each other that. And when a student is unexpectedly not there, like they haven't warned us ahead of time, we'll have somebody else saying, oh yes, they're going, they're gonna be, they're sick, or they're not well, or something happened. It's fantastic. It's almost like that's awesome. We, it really has changed the dynamic of absences in our class just alone in that class. They tell us way ahead of time when they're gonna be gone, what's happening, and if someone's sick and they know it, they let us know."

APPENDIX D

EDUCATOR QUOTES ON THE IMPACT OF ATSA: TWO BY TEN ON ADULTS

"I found that it made me reflect and it also made me remember things that I once knew and once practiced that over time you You let go of certain practices when you're in the education field as we are and new things are coming up month to month and you forget the things that you learned five years ago."

"...those sunshine calls, how critical they are on showing parents that we care about their child, and it's not, Just negative phone calls, but it's the positive things that we tell them is they need to hear that as well. So one of the things I'm implementing as a result of this project is next year I'm tasking all the teachers in our school to do three sunshine calls

"when I talk to parents, I ensure them that. From my end, I'll do everything possible to ensure that their child will be successful. They ha they have to live up to their end. Send your child to school. Make sure your child gets a good meal. Make child your child is sleeping eight hours a night. Make sure you get them ready in the morning with their bag and their clothing so that they can come to school ready and able to learn.

"Like it had a big impact because it just reconfirmed that you do that. I do need to spend time, like invest time to get to know every student and build that connection and be intentional like we talked about in the meeting slots about being intentional with that. And it's something that I always knew, but. I guess I just took it for granted this year, and this year was weird, like coming in November because typically most school years you spend like the start of September establishing those connections in October. But the impact was just like for sure the importance of connection and then just some of the strategies that we talked about and being more intentional about it.

"However I did make a conscious effort to start trying to communicate more with families that I wasn't necessarily working with. If I saw a parent in the hall or out in the school yard dropping a student off, I would make a conscious effort to stop and have a brief conversation with them."

"I think the biggest impact it probably had on was me as I mentioned, get me thinking about how we approach. Attendance piece next year. I wanna take a more active role as, the VP to keep track of not only two marker students, but more data in that sense. I've turned a lot of that over to our attendance counselor. But working closer with guidance and, finding out those reasons, finding out if there's gaps that. Or areas that we need to provide something or step back or whatever it may be. So I think this project has just got my wheels turning for, next year."

"I think just being aware of the attendance issues. At the school, and this being our, my peers, first year here, when we start the year, next year, we'll already have a good idea of h who, whose attendance was lacking, like who struggled with attendance. So we'll be able to j p on that way earlier next year.

"I think I'll just more aware of that circle of shame. And I and I. I listened for it with my colleagues as well. You know. I was listening to one of my one of The classrooms right next door to me, and the teacher was saying to a to a child, You need to come to school every day. You can't miss any more school, and I was thinking, it's it's so true she doesn't need to come to school every day, but we need to be careful that we're not shaming them that way. I'm definitely more aware of that now.

"well, it did give me a lot to think about because, It kind of reinforced the importance, like I do really try hard to build relationships early on, but this really reinforced the importance of building those relationships, not only with kids but with other staff in the building. And I think looking at the role that everyone plays in this and the problem, you know, that some things are problems or situations that are out of our control, but there are things that we can do here in the last module, I really thought a lot about how it starts early, right? The patterns that we develop in like kindergarten, grade one and grade two, they start early because those are going to carry on. "I would say that once I chose my focus students, I did really focus on trying to, you know, like build those relationships with them and have those conversations just like related to their interests, their extracurricular activities things that were going on at home. Not that I don't do that with all of my kids, but yeah, there were some things, you know, that were pointed out that I think as a teacher, I always knew were important, but it was kind of reinforced, you know, when you hear it in a different way of like greeting your kids in the morning at the door. Like the importance of that and those conversations. And I do think it kind of sets the precedent for the whole day, right? Some of those kids that Maybe struggle a bit to come to school or struggle with the morning. If you can kind of greet them and engage them in conversation and turn their day around before they get inside."

"there are deeper reasons and other reasons and to just be aware and look out for them. Maybe like through practice as time goes by, maybe I'll notice it faster, but Right for now, because of the modules, I felt like I was looking for those and being like, oh, this is goes in that compass of shame thing. The response that I just got from this kid. He's telling me that's something deeper and maybe eventually that'll come naturally to me. Cause come, what comes naturally to me now is oh, shush, now you're fine. You can do it. Come on. And that's all I would do with my kids. But then I'm dis not disregarding them, but I'm oh, come on.But now I'm actually seeing that there is something more. And I think we, that I see that faster and quicker and but it is neat to be able to look at it from a different way.

"I think it was just being aware of my relationships with the students and being more open to say This student doesn't necessarily deal well with sarcasm, so then I realize I should not use sarcasm with that student. And like it makes you more aware of like how to deal with the students essentially. And making sure that relationship is there is helpful for the students and I think they become more comfortable and then they want to come to school more often. I'm not sure about other people, but for myself and the students, I think it's been pretty good.

"I think probably the biggest impact was just taking kids and you see some of the Behaviors or, maybe even the body language they come into school with. And just giving yourself permission to stop doing what you might think is more important. To spend time and talk and say, are you okay? Is there something, yeah. Be being, daring, being curious enough being that kind of thing. Giving yourself permission to j p into spots that you might not.

"I think it helped me and how I frame my conversations around attendance and that I'm not going to talk about attendance. So like making sure that I'm not focusing so much on like, well, you haven't been here, but like how can we help you get your bag? Or like, so good to see you miss you and like trying to keep it more on the positive and different ways of supporting them. I'm trying to get to know them. , And their interests so that we can maybe. You know, call them out a little closer instead of like having them just not want to show up at all. , so I think a big part of the, like the positives that I've seen from this is just how I approach conversations with the students.

"but it's also working with staff members and there's one of the other staff members who was a part of the project. I feel like I've been able to build a relationship with her kind of ready for level after having these conversations and, you know, doing check-ins on in the hallway and talking about what some of the things that popped up during our attendance modules or our calls and I've been able to build a really positive relationship with her and I've seen her attendance improves which is really cool I'm kind of just set like a residual effect, I guess.

Interviewer: You mean her attendance as a teacher at school? Yes. Yeah. Yeah. Being really brought in like us having really meaningful conversations in the hallway or in a staff room or I'm passing. There was a conversation that her and I had as we were going through the school resources. So it was totally unrelated to anything like. You know, attendance wise or, but we started kind of to chat about some of the things that had popped up. I had plans to do a check in with her by the end of the week and so, I mean, it just felt really good to take that time to do it. And we both kind of like acknowledged that we like cared about each other in that moment. We cared about following up with. But yes, I have seen, I mean improvement in her attendance and her overall...participation in school culture, activities, and yeah, it's been a really great thing to see in her.

"I think like the biggest thing was it validated a lot of what we were doing and reinforced that the path that we were on was the, the right one lots of the articles that we had read and the learning was connected to the culture that we've kind of established here at the school that's very much relationship driven and restorative based. So I think it just reinforced for us that what we were doing was. It was right. And I think that, , it was a reminder sometimes too of some of those things that we had talked about, but just bringing them back to the forefront"

"very early on in our, in our learning, we had talked about the checklist for absenteeism and the protective and risk factors. And so we had brought that to our staff meeting and we had shared that as part of a resource that we would wanna incorporate into our attendance folders. To help us for those targeted students identify what, what are the, the risk factors and the protective factors that those kids are struggling with and then that allowed us to better understand those particular students and their needs and how we could support them. And so I, that would be one of the stories for sure that I feel that was one of the specifics. I think what I liked that one point, one of the quotes that resonated with me, that I had talked to our staff about was bearing witness to their story and their truth and that whole compassion or compass of shame And so we had talked about some of our existing practices in our community lounge and how we were still trying to figure out how to do that as a school community outside of like personal, like one-on-one, listening, but as a larger community, how we could create a space to allow that to happen.

APPENDIX E

CHECKLIST OF ABSENTEEISM PROTECTIVE FACTORS AND RISK FACTORS

Some of the **protective factors** for students that can mitigate and address absenteeism:(Adapted from CHECK & CONNECT Protective Factors associated with school dropout, Regents of University of Minnesota, 2017)

- student completes homework student comes to class prepared
- student comes to class prepared student has high locus of control
- student has good self-concept
- student has good sen-concept student has expectations for school completion
- family- academic support for learning(e.g. help with homework)
- family motivational support for learning(e.g. high expectations for learning)
- family availability of educational resources
- family parental monitoring
- school orderly school environment
- school committed, caring teachers
- school fair discipline policies
- school relationship with one caring adult
- school opportunities for participation
- Other (Please specify)

Some of the **risk factors** or reasons impacting student attendance were: (check all that apply) (adapted from Dr. Chris O'Connor, Dr. Tyler Frederick Ontario Tech University Literature Review 2017)

- student school phobia/anxiety student learning disabilities student had poor school attachments student behaviour problems/disorders student stress student trauma student lack of motivation student part-time work student health problems family child abuse/neglect family income is low family status is single parent family parent disability family lack of parental educational involvement family parental substance abuse family lack of parenting skills school - conflicts with teachers \square school- deficient attendance policies school-bullying school- not accommodating different learning styles school - disadvantaged schools school- unchallenging assignments community - disadvantage linked to family income community - disadvantage linked to type of neighbourhood community - disadvantage linked to local schools community - disadvantage linked to investment in youth
- Other (Please specify)

Stan Baker, Restorative Resolutions www.restorative.ca